1950

# William D. Jackson v. Spanish Fork West Field Irrigation Company et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

**STATEMENT OF CASE**

The plaintiff brought this action to quiet title to a flow of one cubic foot per second of the waters of

Thistle Creek a tributary of Spanish Fork River for the irrigation of about nineteen acres of land in Spanish Fork Canyon, Utah County, Utah, and for damages because of having been deprived of the use of such waters during a part of the year 1948. (J.R. 1-5).

To the Complaint the defendants and appellants filed their answer in which they denied the right of the plaintiff to the use of the one cubic foot per second, so claimed by the plaintiff, and defendants sought to secure a judgment against the plaintiff quieting their right to the use of the water claimed by the plaintiff and for the value of the use of the water by the plaintiff during the time he was using the same pursuant to an order of the court enjoining the defendants and appellants from using such waters and permitting the plaintiff to use the same. (J.R. 9-13).

A determination of the questions which divides the parties to this controversy requires a review of the evidence offered and received at the trial. We shall therefore briefly review such evidence.

The Plaintiff and Respondent claim the right to the use of the one second foot of water as the successor in interest of one Leven Simmons, who was one of the defendants in an action brought by Spanish Fork City, et al, against the Spanish Fork East Bench, Irrigation and Manufacturing Company, et al. That action resulted in a judgment dated April 20th, 1899 made by the Hon. Wm. McCarty and which judgment or decree is referred

to in the evidence as the McCarty decree. (See Plaintiff's Exhibit J.)

It will be noted from an examination of that decree that by such decree, it is, among other things, ordered, adjudged and decreed.

“That the defendants taking and using water above the mouth of said Spanish Fork Canyon, hereinbefore specifically named, are entitled to have of the waters of the said river and its tributaries, such a proportion of the waters of the said river as their necessities require, until the waters of said river recedes in volume to a quantity not exceeding Twenty-two inches in depth by Forty-one (41) feet in width, weir measurements, measured at the said measuring gates of the parties, below the mouth of said canyon hereinbefore stated :

That whenever the water of said river recedes in volume to a quantity not exceeding Twenty-two (22) inches in depth, by Forty-one (41) feet in width, measured as above stated, the said defendants above the mouth of said Spanish Fork Canyon, as aforesaid, are entitled, to have the water of said river not exceeding two (2) per centum thereof, until the water of said river recedes in volume to a quantity not exceeding Eighteen (18) inches in depth by Forty-one feet in width, measured as aforesaid.

That whenever the water of said river recedes in volume to a quantity not exceeding Eighteen (18) inches in depth, by Forty-one (41) feet in width, measured as aforesaid, the said Defendants above the mouth of

said Spanish Fork Canyon, as aforesaid, are entitled to have of the water of said river not exceeding One Per Centum thereof, until the water of said river recedes in volume to a quantity not exceeding Fifteen and One-half ( $15\frac{1}{2}$ ) inches in depth, by Twenty-four (24) feet in width, measured as aforesaid, and thereafter said Defendants above the mouth of said Canyon, are not entitled to any of the water of said river, except for the irrigation of Thirty (30) acres of land and so long as the volume thereof continues at or below the said Fifteen and one-half inches in depth, by twenty-four feet in width; and for the purpose of irrigating said Thirty acres of land, said Defendants above the mouth of said canyon are entitled to have such a quantity of water as the plaintiffs have and use for irrigation of the same number of acres of land, at the same season of the year; said Thirty acres of water right to be known and designated in this decree as a "primary right."

That it is expressly stipulated and agreed by and among the said defendants above the mouth of said canyon that the water of said river hereby awarded to them, shall be distributed among the said defendants and the same to be decreed to them as follows: It is therefore ordered, adjudged and decreed;

That for the purpose of determining the rights of the parties taking their water above the mouth of Spanish Fork Canyon, and distributing and dividing the same among them, the said parties are divided into three classes, which shall be known in this decree as the First class, the Second class, and the Third class;



That the First Class embraces those persons who by this decree are entitled to the use of thirty acres of water, hereinbefore provided for and denominated as "primary" water, and said thirty acres of "primary" water is hereby decreed to be the property and to belong to the persons hereinafter named in the schedule made a part of this decree as being in the First Class;

The Second Class embraces those persons who are entitled to the use of that portion of the water of Spanish Fork River and its tributaries hereinbefore provided for, and classified as Two Percentum and One Per Centum of the Waters of Spanish Fork River, the said Two Percentum being two per cent of the waters of said river, when the same measured at the measuring gate of the Corporations, parties, hereto below the mouth of said canyon, as aforesaid, shall have receded in a volume to a point less than Twenty-two inches in depth and Forty-one feet in width, and not less than Eighteen inches in depth, and Forty-one feet in width, weir measurement; and the said One Per Centum being One Percent of the water of the said river when the same, measured as aforesaid, and not exceeding Fifteen and one-half inches in depth by Twenty-four feet in width weir measurement; and the said One Per Centum and Two Per Centum of the water of the said river and its tributaries are hereby decreed to be the property of, and shall be distributed to the persons named in said schedule as being in said First and Second Classes;

The Third Class embraces those who are entitled to the use of the water of said river and its tributaries

when the same shall exceed in volume twenty-two inches in depth by forty-one feet in width measured in the manner and places aforesaid.

That so long as the waters of Spanish Fork River and its tributaries exceed in volume said twenty-two inches in depth by forty-one feet in width measured as aforesaid, all said defendants who take their water above the mouth of Spanish Fork Canyon, the same being hereinafter specifically enumerated in the schedule which is made a part hereof, shall be entitled to the use of a sufficient portion of said waters for their necessities according to their respective rights as set forth in said schedule.

That when the waters of the said Spanish Fork River and its tributaries measured as aforesaid, shall exceed to a point not exceeding twenty-two inches in depth by forty-one feet in width, measured as aforesaid, then the rights of the parties hereto who are embraced within the Third Class shall be terminated and the Two Per Centum of the waters and the One Per Centum of the water of said river and its tributaries, provided for as aforesaid, shall be distributed to the parties hereto, who have rights in the First and Second Classes, in proportion, to their respective rights, as shown in the schedule contained herein.

That when the water of said river recedes to a point not exceeding Fifteen and One-half inches in depth and Twenty-four feet in width measured as aforesaid, then the parties in the said First Class shall be entitled to all

of the waters decreed herein to belong to the parties herein taking water above the mouth of Spanish Fork Canyon, the said water being the said thirty acres of primary right and the same is awarded and distributed as provided in said schedule, to the said parties named in the said First Class, according to their respective rights.

That the following is the said schedule and contains the names of the parties hereto entitled to water from said Spanish Fork River and its tributaries, above the mouth of Spanish Fork Canyon, and contains the rights of each person respectively in said classes, stated in acres the right of each person in each class being the proportion which the number of acres set opposite his name bears to the aggregate acreage in each class.

#### SCHEDULE

Name	First Class	Second Class	Third Class
Emma Gardner .....	20 acres		20 acres
Henry Gardner .....	3 acres		9 acres
D. A. Mitchell .....		5 acres	45 acres
H. B. Hicks .....		20 acres	40 acres
Geo. S. Pickering .....		5 acres	25 acres
Henry Elmer .....		4 acres	12 acres
John Drollinger .....		5 acres	35 acres
Jas. A. Mitchell .....		7 acres	9 acres
Samuel Francum .....		17 acres	23 acres
Henry Sargent .....		5 acres	40 acres
Jas. Francum .....			30 acres
Louis Nielson .....			10 acres
S. J. Courdin .....			25 acres
Herman Overhansly .....			45 acres

John Partridge .....		23 acres
J. J. Loveless .....	5 acres	10 acres
H. F. Johnson .....	7 acres	43 acres
Lorenzo Gardner .....	2 acres	
Robert Henderson .....	13 acres	7 acres
Leven Simmons .....	7 acres	8 acres
Hyrum Siller .....	4 acres	8 acres
F. A. Jones .....	2 acres	1 acre
Wm. Brook .....	2 acres	2 acres
S. S. Powell .....	8 acres	17 acres
A. Gardner .....	2 acres	
Bert Jones .....	6 acres	6 acres
J. S. Lewis .....	20 acres	30 acres
M. D. Warner .....	10 acres	10 acres
John Warner .....		7 acres
John Bigley .....	10 acres	10 acres
T. J. Schofield .....	8 acres	12 acres
Wm. Rawlings .....	3 acres	20 acres
Ed. Sackett .....	8 acres	12 acres
W. T. Williams .....	5 acres	10 acres
Jas. Ballard .....	6 acres	10 acres
Henry McKell .....	14 acres	12 acres
Wm. McKell .....	8 acres	5 acres
W. S. Pace .....	10 acres	10 acres
J. W. Coburn .....		30 acres
J. S. Lee .....		30 acres
Samuel Cornaby .....		15 acres
George Killian .....	6 acres	4 acres
Bernard Snow .....	6 acres	4 acres
Aaron Chadwick .....	4 acres	4 acres
Mrs. M. Reger .....		10 acres

That whenever the waters of said river decreed herein to the parties named in said schedule, shall be insufficient in volume to meet the requirements of the persons having interests in the first and second classes, those persons having interests as provided in said sche-

dule of the third class only, shall be cut off in their use of said water in proportion to the said rights, the cutting off to continue as long as the persons having rights in the said First and Second Classes shall require the water according to their rights as ascertained in said schedule and when the water of said river shall have diminished so that the one Per Centum provided for as aforesaid, is cut off from the said defendants taking their water from above the mouth of Spanish Fork Canyon, then the said primary water, being thirty acres, as aforesaid, shall be distributed to the said persons having first class rights only, as provided for in said schedule, and according to the rights of each respectively.

That for the purpose of carrying into effect the provisions of this decree relating to the division and distribution of the rights to the water as set forth in said schedule, to and among said defendants taking their water above the mouth of Spanish Fork Canyon, said persons stipulate and agree with themselves, and each one with the other, that three watermasters shall be selected, one from what is known as Thistle Fork, one from what is known as Soldier Fork, and one from what is known as Diamond Fork of said river, who may select either from their own number or otherwise, a person who shall be known as Head Watermaster, and they together, shall prescribe such rules and regulations in respect to the division and the distribution of said water as will secure the economical use thereof, and best observe the interests of all parties in this suit; the said Head Watermaster shall see that said rules and regu-

lations so prescribed for the division and distribution of said water are enforced.

It is further ordered, adjudged and decreed; that all of the water of said river not hereinbefore decreed to the defendants above the said mouth of said canyon, is hereby awarded to the parties herein below the mouth of said canyon, to-wit: The Spanish Fork East Bench Irrigation and Manufacturing Company, the Salem Irrigation and Canal Co., the Spanish Fork South Irrigation Co., Spanish Fork City, Spanish Fork West Field Irrigation Co., Spanish Fork Southeast Irrigation Co., and The Lake Shore Irrigation Co.

It appearing to the court that the parties herein below the mouth of said canyon last above named, have stipulated in writing among themselves, and filed the same in court, by which said parties have agreed among themselves that the water herein decreed to them shall be apportioned to them by this decree; and it appearing from said stipulation that the defendant Spanish Fork East Bench Irrigation and Manufacturing Co. diverts its water from Spanish Fork river, at or near the mouth of Spanish Fork canyon, by a separate ditch constructed for its purpose alone, and known as the Spanish Fork East Bench Canal; and that next below said East Bench Irrigation Canal, the Salem Irrigation Canal, and for its separate and independent use; and that next below the Salem Irrigation Canal, the Spanish Fork South Irrigation Co. diverts its water from said river by a canal known as the Spanish Fork South Irrigation Canal, and for its separate and independent use; and that next below the

last mentioned canal, Spanish Fork City, The Spanish Fork West Field Irrigation Co., and Spanish Fork Southeast Irrigation Co. divert their water from said river by a canal used in common between them, and known as the Mill Race, for their joint use, and that next below the last mentioned canal or Mill Race, the defendant The Lake Shore Irrigation Co. diverts its water from said river by a canal known as the Lake Shore Canal, and for its separate and independant use; and that said canals, being five in number, are all of the canals, and all of the diversions of water from Spanish Fork river, in Utah Valley below the mouth of said Spanish Fork Canyon, and that the said parties to said stipulations are the only appropriators of any of the said water of said river below said canyon.

And it further appearing from said stipulation that this decree as to the distribution of said water among said parties may be made, it is therefore ordered, adjudged and decreed, that the waters of said Spanish Fork river herein decreed to said parties below the mouth of said Canyon, be awarded to and divided among them as follows, to-wit;

That until the water of said river recedes in volume to a quantity not exceeding 25 inches in depth by 24 feet in width, weir measurement, measured at the measuring gates of said parties below the mouth of said canyon, each of said parties shall have and be entitled to take of said water according to their necessities.

That whenever the water of said river recedes in volume to a quantity not exceeding twenty-five (25) inches in depth, and twenty-four (24) feet in width, measured as aforesaid and until the same receding in volume to a quantity not exceeding eighteen (18) inches in depth, by twenty-four (24) feet in width, measured as aforesaid, the defendant, the Spanish Fork East Bench Irrigation and Manufacturing Co. shall have Seven-forty-firsts ( $7/41$ ) thereof, the plaintiff the Salem Irrigation and Canal Co. Seven and one-half forty-firsts ( $7\frac{1}{2}/41$ ) thereof, the plaintiff, the Spanish Fork South Irrigation Co. Eight and one-half forty-firsts ( $8\frac{1}{2}/41$ ) thereof, the plaintiffs Spanish Fork City, Spanish Fork West Field Irrigation Co., and Spanish Fork Southeast Irrigation Co. through their common canal, known as the Mill Race, Eleven Forty-firsts ( $11/41$ ) thereof, and the defendant, the Lake Shore Irrigation Co. Seven forty-firsts ( $7/41$ ) thereof.

That whenever the water of the said river recedes in volume to a quantity not exceeding eighteen (18) inches in depth by Twenty-four (24) feet in width, measured as aforesaid, and until the same recedes in volume to a quantity not exceeding Fifteen and one-half ( $15\frac{1}{2}$ ) inches in depth by Twenty-four feet in width, the defendant, Spanish Fork East Bench Irrigation and Manufacturing Co. shall have two-twenty-fourths ( $2/24$ ) thereof, the plaintiff Salem Irrigation and Canal Co., four twenty-fourths ( $4/24$ ) thereof, the plaintiff, Spanish Fork South Irrigation Co., shall have six twenty-fourths ( $6/24$ ) thereof, the Plaintiffs, Spanish Fork City, the Spanish



Fork West Field Irrigation Co., and the Spanish Fork Southeast Irrigation Co., to be taken through their common canal known as the Mill Race, shall have, eleven twenty-fourths ( $11/24$ ) thereof, and the defendant, the Lake Shore Irrigation Co., shall have one twenty-fourth ( $1/24$ ) thereof, measured as aforesaid, at the City and Mill Race dam; and that thereafter, so long as the waters of said river continue at or below said fifteen and one-half inches in depth, by twenty-four feet in width, measured as aforesaid, the said defendant, the Lake Shore Irrigation Co., shall not be entitled to any of the water, of said river, except such as may be called seepage water, arising below said city dam.

That whenever the said water of said river recedes in volume to a quantity not exceeding Fifteen and one-half inches in depth, by twenty-three feet in width, measured as aforesaid, and until the same recedes in volume to a quantity not exceeding ten inches in depth, by twenty-three feet in width, measured as aforesaid, the defendant, the Spanish Fork East Bench Irrigation and Manufacturing Co., shall have two twenty-thirds ( $2/23$ ) thereof, the plaintiff, the Salem Irrigation and Canal Co. shall have four twenty-thirds ( $4/23$ ) thereof, the plaintiff, the Spanish Fork South Irrigation Co. shall have six twenty-thirds ( $6/23$ ) thereof, the plaintiffs, Spanish Fork City, the Spanish Fork West Field Irrigation Co., and the Spanish Fork Southeast Irrigation Co. to be taken through their common canal, known as the Mill Race, eleven twenty-thirds ( $11/23$ ) thereof.

That whenever the water of said river recedes in volume to a quantity not exceeding ten (10) inches in depth, by twenty-three (23) feet in width, the defendant, The Spanish Fork East Bench Irrigation and Manufacturing Co. shall have a quantity of water not exceeding six (6) inches in depth by Two (2) feet in width, measured as aforesaid, and the remainder of the waters of said river shall be distributed as follows: The plaintiff, The Salem Irrigation and Canal Co. shall have Four twenty-firsts ( $\frac{4}{21}$ ) thereof; the plaintiff, The Spanish Fork South Irrigation Co., shall have six twenty-firsts ( $\frac{6}{21}$ ) thereof; the plaintiffs, Spanish Fork City, The Spanish Fork West Field Irrigation Co., and the Spanish Fork Southeast Irrigation Co. to be taken through their common canal, known as the Mill Race, shall have Eleven twenty-firsts ( $\frac{11}{21}$ ) thereof; and this last measurement shall continue in relative proportions as the water recedes, so long as the quantity in said river does not exceed Ten (10) inches in depth by Twenty-three (23) feet in width, measured as aforesaid.

It is further ordered, adjudged and decreed, that notwithstanding any of the provisions of this decree, none of the parties hereto shall divert water from the said Spanish Fork river at any time, except it be needed for, and actually used, for beneficial and useful purposes, and none of the parties hereto, that take their water from said river below the mouth of Spanish Fork Canyon, as hereinbefore designated, shall divert from said stream more water than will fill their ditches as at present constructed, and this provision shall in no

wise interfere with the right of any of the parties to clean out or improve their ditches at their present size, or to change the course or place of use without increasing their size.

It is further ordered, adjudged and decreed; that each of the parties hereto diverting water from said river below the mouth of Spanish Fork Canyon, shall, or at or near the point where it respectively divert said water, maintain good measuring gates, so as to accurately measure by weir measurement, the amount of water diverted by said canal respectively.

That for the purpose of carrying into effect the provisions of this decree, and in order to distribute the water of said river, and its tributaries to the parties severally entitled thereto, pursuant to the terms of this decree, the Watermasters of the Spanish Fork South Irrigation Co., the Salem Irrigation and Canal Co., Spanish Fork East Bench Irrigation and Manufacturing Co., the Lake Shore Irrigation Co., the Watermaster of the Mill Race, and the Head Watermaster selected by the parties hereto taking water from said river above the mouth of Spanish Fork Canyon, shall constitute a commission, and it shall be the duty of said commission to select some disinterested, suitable, and competent person to make proper measurements, divisions and distributions according to the terms of this decree, and if said commission is unable to agree on any such person, then such person so aggrieved may call upon the County Surveyor of Utah County to make such measurements, division and distribution, and his

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