1950

William D. Jackson v. Spanish Fork West Field Irrigation Company et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Dr. Raymond B. Barnsworth (Tr. 301), assistant professor of agronomy at the Brigham Young University, on September 18, 1948, made a study of plaintiff's lands. This was after the claimed interference with the water by the water commissioner and nearly a month after the 1 C.F.S. had been turned back in the ditch after the injunction. He took nine soil samples over the property for testing as to present water content and carrying capacity. The average of these samples showed an actual water content of 15.8%. The average carrying capacity of the same samples was 54.63%. 5% (45%, Tr. 333) of the water applied to these lands is lost by evaporation and percolation; this is about one half of the average. Those areas require about two acre feet of water per season as a minimum to fully develop crops. The 1 C.F.S. constant flow would be required upon these lands to fully develop crops.

I have summarized in some detail the testimony of plaintiff's witnesses other than the plaintiff's own testimony, inasmuch as there is a considerable period of history to cover under the rule that if the questioned 1 C.F.S. has been openly, etc., used by the plaintiff and his predecessors under claim of right for any consecutive period of seven years between the McCarty Decree and 1939, the title to the use of the water was acquired. Manifestly from such a review, the plaintiff's evidence clearly supports his claim. The adverse period in this case is seven years, it being clear from the evidence that Simmons continued the flow after the McCarty Decree without cessation, for the culinary, stock and crop water-

ing purposes indicating clearly that he did not consider that the 1 C.F.S. was included in the McCarty Decree regulation.

We will see, then, if there have been such interruptions during that period as would break the required adversity for seven years.

L. P. Thomas (Tr. 351), age 77, was employed by the irrigation companies as far back as 1902. Newell Monk, who is now 88 and too feeble to testify, was the first commissioner and was appointed in 1909, serving 11 years. He had an assistant. On August 4, 1914, witness and Francis Hanks went to the diversion of the West Simmons Ditch and turned the water out of the ditch at 4:00 or 5:00 p.m.—“shut it dry.” Spencer Simmons was then in possession. He did not testify that this act was made known to Spencer Simmons.

He talked to Simmons about his claim when Mr. Oberhausley and Mr. Mitchell were officers of the Clinton Irrigation Company. They were holding a meeting in the Clinton Schoolhouse. The date is not given. Spencer Simmons claimed that if they would measure the water in the river above the field and then go and measure the river below, he would be willing to take a charge for whatever he shorted the river. They told him that they couldn't do that. Mr. Simmons did not then make claim to the 1 C.F.S. now claimed and the witness never heard of such claim. He is still a member of the Central Committee and the committee has authorized the commis-

sioner to regulate the water according to the McCarty Decree. In 1920 and 1921 there was abundant water and all users had all they wanted. Until the river receded to 352'; the canyon people have taken all they wanted. From 352'; down to 242'; the canyon people had 2% of the river flow. Until it receded from 242' to 118'; they had 1% and when it reached 118' they were cut off except for primary rights. The commissioner was not directed to distribute water except Strawberry and McCarty Decree water.

Lorin W. Jones (Tr. 378), was water commissioner from 1923 to 1928 inclusive. His duty was to distribute the natural river water plus Strawberry. He made trips up the canyon once per week and sometimes oftener. Made first trip along in June when the river dropped in flow. He attempted to follow the terms of the McCarty Decree. During these years he went to the West Simmons diversion once every two weeks, and took measurement of the flow that was turned out. He turned the water out in 1923. He never turned water into Spencer Simmons property. Simmons did that himself, and witness doesn't know how he got the information to turn the water in. He would tell Simmons to turn the water off and he would turn it off. Simmons never made any claim to him to a right to use water other than McCarty Decree and Strawberry and he discussed water with Simmons several times during each year. When he turned the water off, Simmons never made any statement to him about water for his cattle. After the 20th

of September to middle of October he didn't bother to regulate the people in the canyon.

Sometimes there was more than 1 C.F.S. in the West Simmons Ditch and sometimes it was shut off completely. After he shut it off, someone turned it back in or brush forced it into the West Simmons Ditch. He shut off the water several times each year. He doesn't know that Simmons had a "house stream." He can't recall any year when any of the crops on the Simmons' place were dried up. The flow he would cut off Simmons' ditch was Secondary water. Water that he would shut off was water which he understood under the McCarty Decree should go on down the river. He didn't go up each time Simmons took Strawberry or decree water. He told Simmons that he would do it or Simmons must shut it all off. Each individual never put in application for Strawberry water; each user was charged with the responsibility to turn it back. He never checked that, it was left up to the Clinton people. He doesn't know whether Simmons turned the water off each time he told him to. He understood that to regulate the secondary water, that when the flow cut down, he would tell the people to cut off their water.

James A. Anderson (Tr. 399) was commissioner from 1929-1930 and attempted to regulate the use of water in the canyon. He made four trips up the canyon in two years. No one was using water wrongfully. Early in the season there was water in the Simmons ditch but in the last of July of 1929 and 1930 there was no water

flowing in the Simmons ditch, at no time when he was up there did he see water in the West Simmons Ditch after May; the whole ditch was dry. There was no dam in Thistle Creek, but there was a dam in West Simmons Ditch and the ditch was dry below. He didn't go to any other ranches to see if water was running in their ditches, the only observations made were in the West Simmons Ditch because Simmons ditch was along the road.

David Warner (Tr. 411) Spanish Fork, was commissioner in 1934 and about six weeks in the latter part of 1930. During 1934 he worked mostly in the canyon measuring irrigation streams. The water master at Clinton distributed to the users. He passed by the West Simmons diversion every time he went up the canyon, and turned water out of the ditch several times. At one time Spencer Simmons was there when he turned it off, and he reported the fact to the commission. Simmons requested that he not cut his dam but that he divert it lower and they cut it back into the creek lower on the ditch where they cut it back into the river. This cut was about 20' to 30' below the diversion. This was done with the man he always supposed was Simmons. He had probably $\frac{3}{4}$ C.F.S. in the ditch at that time. Couldn't say where the water was running. That was the driest year on record. Thinks he just told Simmons that he was going to turn the water out. May or may not have said something about the water. Doesn't remember Simmons claiming any right or his protesting; wouldn't

remember how he turned the water off—he usually carried a shovel. Doesn't remember whether he put the dam across the ditch. Shut the ditch dry, but doesn't remember whether it was necessary to put in the dam. That's the only time he remembers that Simmons was present. This was in the morning while he was going up, but he doesn't remember whether he saw water in the ditch when he came back down. Doesn't recall much about 1930.

Angus D. Taylor (Tr. 426) was assistant commissioner working under Clifford Jex 1937, 1938, 1939 1940. His job was to regulate the waters in the canyon. He was furnished copies of the various decrees and the list of Strawberry water showing the amounts to each user. He was at the West Simmons Ditch about once a week or ten days during these years. He turned the water out of the ditch approximately six times each season. He never turned water off in the canyon without notifying the owner or leaving word at the place. He told Spencer Simmons in 1937, maybe it was Max DePew. When Simmons wasn't there he usually left word with DePew's wife at the house. In 1938 word was left at the house. Each time he turned it out he filled the head of the ditch with rocks and dirt until flow stopped. He never saw the Simmons ditch with water in it when he wasn't supposed to have water in it. He was turning off Strawberry and river water. He never kept track to see whether Simmons turned it back in after he left. He never knew Simmons to have an entire crop failure. There was never water in Sim-

mons' corral and he never knew about the well.

Benjamin Frank Simmons (Tr. 436) was deputy commissioner in 1943. He is related to Leven and Spencer Simmons. He went to the head of the West Simmons Ditch whenever water was ordered in to see how it was. Max DePew occupied these lands during his year. He turned the water off of the West Simmons Ditch, only once was there difficulty. There was a gate which leaked and DePew didn't want him to shut off the water completely and wanted some to run for his cattle and that's what he did. When Max DePew's turn was up he would go to see that it was shut off. Water users were the ones who probably had the duty to turn the water off and on but you can't always depend upon them. His duty was to see that the Clinton Irrigation Company got all of the water it was entitled to. Oberhausley was to see that it was distributed into the canals. He was there every time that a user got the water and when he turned it off. When DePew was there at time,s he turned it off. From his book he testified that he turned the water out of the West Simmons Ditch April 20th, April 23rd (it was off), August 7th, August 21st, September 13th. When the water was on, from 1½ to 2 C.F.S. flowed in the ditch, and when off there was a little that leaked through the gate.

Willis Hill (Tr. 454) was deputy water commissioner in 1944 and went to the Simmons property the first year of plaintiff's possession. He directed plaintiff to hang out a flag when he needed water and again when he was

through. The West Simmons Ditch was considerably filled up during his year and not much water could have run through. Between Jackson's turns he doesn't remember water being in the ditch. He walked down the ditch one day to see Jackson and no water was in the ditch as he remembers. He drove past several times and glanced over but doesn't remember water in the ditch. He doesn't know of any adversed rights. Jackson was harvesting a fairly good crop of hay along in July.

Arla M. Stewart, (Tr. 464) was deputy commissioner in 1942 and again in 1945. He went to the DePew property in 1942, he visited the headgate nearly every day. He kept a record and from it testified to turning off and on the property through the period from May 21, 1942 to September 8th. Some of these times were not charged because water was plentiful. He went to the West Simmons Ditch almost daily and turned the water off nearly every turn. DePew's little girls couldn't turn the water off so he turned it off for them if it wasn't off by 9:00 o'clock when he got there. There was a crude dam in the creek, with a tin headgate to the ditch which couldn't be entirely shut off. He never saw DePew at the headgate. During 1945 he kept record of turning water on and off but there was no charge on the West Simmons Ditch during that year and an August storm washed Jackson's dam out. He went by practically every day and visited the head gate two or three times a week. Except for a little leakage Jackson never had a stream in except during his turns.

Victor Sabin (Tr. 489) since May 1, 1946 has been Deputy Commissioner and was so at the time of trial; looks after the upper river. He was up the river every day, except during free water, saw the West Simmons Ditch, and never saw anything but the little leakage water in it when it wasn't Jackson's turn. The seepage may amount to $1/25$ to $1/50$ C.F.S. He presented his records of turns in both years 1946, 1947. In that year while up there in the latter part of the season he found about $1/2$ C.F.S. in the ditch. He stopped at the home and asked plaintiff why he left the water running and plaintiff said he felt that he should have some stock water. sum of \$480.00.

He told plaintiff that according to the decree he has no title to a stream around there, to which plaintiff answered: "Man, I've got to have the water for stock." He then shut off the water and left. A new gate ("calcometer") was installed in the West Simmons Ditch on July 26-27, 1948, but its installation was incorrect and plaintiff installed a 15''x20'' wier to measure water.

When he cut off the plaintiff's water on July 12th he did so under instructions from Mr. Francis, River Commissioner. He turned the water off on June 19th and plaintiff turned it back on. He turned the water off on July 1, 2, and 3rd. It was turned off on July 14th and was held off until the court's injunction. At no time in 1947 did plaintiff have water in the ditch except that which he turned in and the small leakage referred to.

Latter part of 1947 there was a discussion about there being a right to a continuous flow in the West Simmons Ditch. Plaintiff first mentioned the well on July 4, 1948, when he said it had always run there and he was entitled to it. On July 28th plaintiff said 1/2 C.F.S. was for garden and to "sweeten his well up."

Roy Creer, (Tr. 541) member of the Central Committee was up to the Simmons property in 1933, the latter part of July or the 1st of August. There was then about 1/4 C. F. S. in the West Simmons Ditch. "The dam was kinda broke."

Wayne Francis, (Tr. 546) has been river commissioner since 1941. In that year he turned off the water from the West Simmons Ditch several times when it was ordered turned. He recalls times when there was no water running in the West Simmons Ditch and never saw water in it except upon turn. After the water should be turned off he always visited the gate. After 1941 he didn't pass near the gate because of change in the road. On May 1928 he was up by the ditch in an old Ford car and ran out of water. He dipped water from the West Simmons Ditch. Had trouble getting water it was so shallow. While the commissioner and deputy relied upon the people somewhat to turn their water on and off, he would check every time and if not completely shut off, he would shut it off.

Burgis Larson (Tr. 594) was deputy water commissioner in 1935. He visited the Simmons property nearly

every day in the latter part of the season. He turned water off of Simmons' property, a fraction of a C.F.S. in the latter part of July. The ditch did not carry water at all times when he saw it. Just saw it the one time.

Upon reopening the case for further hearing on February 23, 1949, R. A. Hart (Tr. 604) testified that he was water commissioner beginning in 1906, when he served all of the season, and serving only for a short period in 1907, and only one month in 1908. As to the canyon water he had to do with shutting off or decreasing the flow of the various users. He first sent out post card notices to the users that the tertiary rights were cut off, then again when the Secondary Rights were cut off. After he sent these cards in 1906 he got Newell Monk and they went up the river including Thistle Creek to check on receipt of the cards by the users and whether complied with. He knows plaintiff's property. He found everyone on Thistle Fork had complied with his order. He remembers that Mr. Simmons was specially interested in the amount of flow on his ditch, and asked him to measure it. He did and found .98 C. F. S. in the ditch which he didn't shut off. This flow was running past Simmons' house in a shallow ditch but he didn't follow it to see whether it was spread out on the land or ran directly back into the river. Mr. Simmons made no claim to water beside the McCarty Decree water, but did ask why he couldn't use springs arising on his own property.

As stated above, we look only for adversity from

April 20, 1899, the date of the McCarty Decree, to 1939. If the preponderance of the evidence establishes it for any period of seven years during that time then we must find for the plaintiff unless the record also shows that thereafter and prior to 1939 he was adversed by someone else, or unless since the time of completion of his adversity he has abandoned or forfeited his right so that it now is public water and subject to appropriation.

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